# The Challenge of Coordination in Central Government Organizations

TOM CHRISTENSEN
PER LÆGREID

STEIN ROKKAN CENTRE FOR SOCIAL STUDIES

UNIFOB AS

OCTOBER 2007

# Contents

Preface	3
SUMMARY	4
Sammendrag	5
Introduction.	7
The Norwegian Coordination Context	8
FEATURES OF THE COORDINATIVE REFORM EFFORTS	9
THEORETICAL PERSPECTIVES ON COORDINATION	11
Data sources	14
THE DEPENDENT VARIABLES: ASSESSING DIFFERENT DIMENSIONS OF COORDINATION	15
Variations in coordination: structure, culture and demography	
Bivariate analyses	19
Multivariate analyses.	
DISCUSSION	22
Conclusion	24
References	26

# **Preface**

This paper is written as a part of the following projects: "Norwegian central government in a 30 years perspective", funded by the Meltzer Foundation and "Multilevelgovernance in the tension between functional and territorial specialization", funded by the Norwegian Research Council. The paper was presented at the Study Group on Governance of Public Sector Organizations, EGPA Conference, Madrid 19-22 September 2007. We wish to thank the Norwegian Science Data Service that has conducted the survey for us, and especially Vidar W. Rolland and John-Erik Ågotnes for valuable help. We also thank Anne Lise Fimreite and Paul G. Roness for good comments on an earlier version of the paper.

# Summary

This paper addresses the coordination problems in central government by focusing on the Norwegian case. The main research questions are: What are the experiences of civil servants concerning the main aspects of coordination in the civil service: horizontal and vertical coordination, and internal and external coordination? What is the relative importance of structural, demographic and cultural variables for explaining variations in civil servants' perception of coordination along these dimensions? The data base is a questionnaire given to civil servants in ministries and central agencies in 2006. The main findings are that there are more problems with horizontal coordination than with vertical coordination; that generally perceived coordination problems are bigger in central agencies than in ministries; and that a low level of mutual trust tends to aggravate coordination problems. Thus both structural and cultural factors matter.

# Sammendrag

Dette notatet analyserer samordningsproblem i norsk sentralforvaltning. Følgende problemstillinger behandles: Hvilke erfaringer har ansatte i sentraladministrasjonen når det gjelder samordning langs følgende dimensjoner: Horisontal og vertikal samordning, intern og ekstern samordning? Hva er den relative betydningen av strukturelle, demografiske og kulturelle variabler for å forklare variasjoner i de ansattes vurdering av samordningen langs disse dimensjonene? Datagrunnlaget spørreskjemaundersøkelse til ansatte i departementer og direktorater i Hovedfunnene er at det er større problemer med horisontal samordning enn med vertikal samordning, at samordningen oppleves som mer problematisk i direktoratene enn i departementene og at svake gjensidige tillitsrelasjoner fører til økte samordningsproblemer. Både strukturelle og kulturelle faktorer har altså betydning for å variasjoner i samordningsproblemer i norsk sentraladministrasjon.

### Introduction

The structure and working of public organizations around the world can be described and analyzed according to two central sets of variables: specialization and coordination, both of which have vertical and horizontal components. In his analysis of the US federal administrative apparatus, Luther Gulick (1937) pointed out the importance of these variables, gave them further content and stressed their dynamic relationship. Even though many scholars, such as Herbert Simon, have criticized the definition and use of these principles and considered them ambiguous (Hammond 1990), they have nevertheless been very important both in scholarly analyses and in administrative practice.

The New Public Management (NPM) movement has mainly been characterized by a strategy of fragmentation (Christensen and Lægreid 2001, Pollitt and Bouckaert 2004) adopted mainly with a view to furthering efficiency and transparency, making roles less ambiguous, etc. Vertical specialization or structural devolution seems, however, to have undermined political control, for it has both weakened the structural levers of control and diminished the actual influence of political executives over subordinate levels and institutions. At the same time, increased horizontal specialization, according to the principle of "single purpose organizations", has created challenges of capacity and coordination (Gregory 2003). NPM has, however, not only furthered fragmentation, but also promoted a number of reregulation measures, such as strengthening the internal instruments of planning and control (Management-by-Objectives and Results), increasing the use of regulatory agencies and strengthening scrutiny and auditing in various ways (Christensen and Lægreid 2006a, Pollitt et al. 1999).

In post-NPM reform efforts vertical and horizontal coordination problems have received a renewed focus in the form of "whole-of-government" and "joined-up government" programs (Christensen and Lægreid, 2006b, 2007a and b). In the vertical dimension, directing more central resources towards subordinate institutions and levels and using stronger instruments of central control have become increasingly important ways for political executives to regain political control and pursue consistent policies across levels. In the horizontal dimension, measures like cross-sectoral bodies, programs or projects are increasingly being used to modify the "siloization" or "pillarization" of the central public administration (Gregory 2003, Pollitt 2003). Added to this, a stronger trend towards internationalization and regionalization combined with strong local government has increased the coordination challenges related to issues that are dealt with at multiple levels of government.

In this paper we will address the coordination problems in central government by focusing on the case of Norway. The main research questions are: What are the experiences of civil servants concerning the main aspects of coordination in the civil

service: horizontal and vertical coordination, and internal and external coordination? How do we explain variations in the experience of coordination along the different dimensions? What is the relative importance or significance of independent structural, demographic and cultural variables for explaining these variations?

The main explanatory variables used are structural features such as position, competence, administrative level, policy area, main tasks and administrative reforms; demographic features such as sex, age, education and tenure; and cultural features such as mutual trust, role orientation and identification. We will derive hypotheses based on a broad transformative approach (Christensen and Lægreid 2007a). The main dependent variables will be the civil servants' assessment of how good coordination is along the following dimensions: vertical coordination within own policy area; horizontal coordination between different government policy areas or sectors; coordination with local and regional government; coordination with super-national and multinational organizations; and coordination with civil society organizations and private-sector interest organizations. The empirical basis of the analysis is a survey conducted in 2006 of Norwegian ministries and central agencies. A total of 3,362 civil servants answered the questionnaire.

# The Norwegian Coordination Context

As a country with a large, universal welfare state, Norway has a large public sector and there is a relatively high level of mutual trust between central actors and public-sector organizations (Christensen and Lægreid 2002). Norway can be characterized as a unitary state with a combination of political and administrative decentralization. The principle of local self government is quite strong: there are elected bodies at both local and regional level and these are expected to make their own local policy without too much interference from central government. At the same time, they are also supposed to implement policies coming from central government. In Norway the delivery of the most important welfare services are delegated to the municipalities. Added to this, there are also government bodies at both the local and regional level that are responsible for implementing central government policies, and these also have control and regulatory tasks.

The central government in Norway is characterized by strong sectoral ministries and relatively weak super-ministries with coordination responsibilities across ministerial areas. The principle of ministerial responsibility is strong, meaning that the individual minister is responsible for all activities in his or her portfolio and in subordinate agencies and bodies. The only ministry with strong horizontal coordination power is the Ministry of Finance, but this power is mainly restricted to questions of budget and financial resources and not to more substantial policy issues. The Prime Minister's Office has traditionally been rather small and it has not been a strong coordination body, but it has become more important over the past decade, owing to an increase in personnel. That said, some ministries, such as the Ministry of the Environment, the Ministry of Justice and the Police, the Ministry of Government Administration and

part of this complex equation.

Reform, the Ministry of Local Government and Regional Development and the Ministry of Foreign Affairs, do have some coordination tasks across ministerial areas. Over the past decade, two development features in the Norwegian central government have affected the coordination pattern. First, the NPM reforms have increased vertical and horizontal specialization, while at the same time trying to balance this with a focus on vertical coordination, mainly within the government apparatus but also between state and local government. Management-by-objectives-and-results has mainly addressed how superior authorities can control their subordinate agencies and bodies via different forms of performance-management techniques and quasi-contractual arrangements. This is also linked to structural devolution efforts that have turned public administration bodies into state-owned companies and given central agencies enhanced autonomy. The problems of horizontal coordination have not been addressed to the same extent, but this does not mean that this is not an important problem in the Norwegian political-administrative system. EU influence on national vertical structural devolution is also

Second, Norway's increased integration in the European Union through the Economic Area Agreement has increased the need for horizontal coordination and for a unified Norwegian position to be formulated on various policy issues. To facilitate this eighteen special overarching committees have been established covering both ministries and agencies and different policy sectors. The members of these committees are civil servants in affected ministries and agencies. In addition to these special committees there is also a coordination committee headed by the Ministry of Foreign Affairs.

Thus this contextual situation illustrates the special challenges that civil servants in Norwegian ministries and central agencies face when handling and assessing coordination issues. The Norwegian case illustrates that a number of changes in government have made coordination more difficult and that there is an increasing demand for both horizontal and multi-level coordination (Peters 1998 and 2004).

### Features of the coordinative reform efforts

The main goal of post-NPM reforms has been to gradually move public-sector organizations back from the disintegration or fragmentation brought about under NPM to a situation of greater integration and coordination (Christensen and Lægreid 2007a). First, as indicated, fragmentation under NPM has increased pressure for more horizontal integration and coordination. Societal problems can seldom be compartmentalized along sectoral lines, so increasing cross-sectoral coordinative capacity has been important. Second, political executives have been reluctant to accept that NPM has led to an undermining of political control. Whether socialists or non-socialists, many political executives have identified a situation where they are losing control, influence and information and still being held accountable as problematic. This has resulted in efforts to strengthen central capacity and control, particularly in sectors that are seen as political salient. There is an increasing striving for coordination and coherence in public policy, and one answer seems to be a return to the centre (Peters 2005).

Third, confronted with an increasingly insecure world, whether the result of terrorism, biosecurity concerns, tsunamis or pandemics, national states are seeking to strengthen central political control, but also seeing an increasing need for contingent coordination and network approaches (Christensen and Painter 2004, Kettl 2003, Wise 2002). Fourth, the promise that NPM would bring an overall increase in efficiency has been difficult to fulfil, even though some more technically oriented services have become more efficient. There have also been concerns about negative effects of NPM features, like increased social inequality and the declining quality of public services (Stephens 1996).

A second generation of reforms initially labeled "joined-up government" (JUG) and later known as "whole-of- government" was launched, much in contrast to the NPM reforms. Its advocates described it as a more holistic strategy, using insights from the other social sciences, rather than just economics (Bogdanor 2005). These new reform efforts, as a response to increased fragmentation, started in the late 1990s in the most radical NPM countries such as the UK, New Zealand and Australia (Perry 6 2004). The slogans "joined-up-government" and "whole-of-government" provided new labels for the old doctrine of coordination in the study of public administration (Hood 2005). In addition to the issue of coordination, the problem of integration was a main concern behind these reform initiatives (Mulgan 2005). Attempts to coordinate government policy-making and service delivery across organizational boundaries are, however, not a new phenomenon (Ling 2002, Kavanagh and Richards 2001).

The concept of JUG was first introduced by the Blair government in 1997 and a main aim was to get a better grip on the "wicked" issues straddling the boundaries of public-sector organizations, administrative levels and policy areas. It became one of the principal themes in the modernization program of Tony Blair's New Labour administration (Richards and Smith 2006). JUG was presented as the opposite of "departmentalism," tunnel vision and "vertical silos". In the UK, JUG has found it strongest expression at the local level, where it encourages various kinds of partnerships (Stoker 2005). Another special focus of JUG activities has been the assertion of authority in the form of special coordinators and clearance systems. It is, however, not entirely clear what JUG means (Pollitt 2003). Some authors make a distinction between JUG and holistic government (Perry 6 2005). The terms have emerged as fashionable slogans rather than precise scientific concepts and in practice they are often used more or less synonymously.<sup>1</sup>

Some common features can be identified. The phrase JUG denotes the aspiration to achieve horizontal and vertical coordination in order to eliminate situations in which different policies undermine each other, to make better use of scarce resources, to create synergies by bringing together different stakeholders in a particular policy area and to offer citizens seamless rather than fragmented access to services (Pollitt 2003). The overlap with the whole-of-government concept is obvious. The *Connecting Government Report* (Management Advisory Committee 2004) defines whole-of-government in the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> There are also numerous other terms describing the challenge of improving coordination across policy sectors and service delivery, such as networked government, connected government, cross-cutting policy, horizontal management, partnerships and collaborative public management.

Australian Public Service in this way: "Whole-of-government denotes public services agencies working across portfolio boundaries to achieve a shared goal and an integrated government response to particular issues. Approaches can be formal or informal. They can focus on policy development, program management and service delivery".

The scope of whole-of-government is pretty broad. One can distinguish between policymaking and *implementation* aspects, between *horizontal linkages* and *vertical linkages*, and the targets for whole-of-government initiatives can be a group, a locality or a policy sector (see Pollitt 2003). Whole-of-government activities may span any or all levels of government and also involve groups outside government. It is about joining up at the top, but also about joining up at the base and enhancing local level integration, and it involves public-private partnerships.

One example of whole-of-government structures at the municipal level is the new Municipality Act in Norway from 1992 (Tranvik and Fimreite 2006). Another main whole-of-government initiative in Norway is the reform of the employment and welfare administration. In 2005 the Storting (parliament) decided to merge the employment and national insurance administrations and to establish a more formal collaboration with the local government social services administration. This comprehensive reform is affecting vertical sector coordination and horizontal coordination, as well as coordination between local and central government (Christensen, Fimreite and Lægreid 2007).

### Theoretical perspectives on coordination

According to an *instrumental-structural perspective*, decision-making processes in public organizations are either the result of strong hierarchical steering or negotiations among top political and administrative leaders (March and Olsen 1983). And the formal structure of public organizations will channel and influence the models of thought and the actual decision-making behaviour of the civil servants (Egeberg 2003, Simon 1957). A major precondition for such effects is that the leaders score high on rational calculation (Dahl and Lindblom 1953), meaning that they must have relatively clear intentions and goals, choose structures that correspond with these goals and have insight into the potential effects of the structures chosen.

Luther Gulick (1937) stressed the dynamic relationship between specialization and coordination: the more specialization in a public organization, the more pressure for increased coordination, or vice versa. The challenges of coordination by organization, his main type, were also qualitatively different depending on whether the structural specialization was based on purpose, process, clientele or geography. If a public administration is, for example, based on the principle of purpose, the main coordinative challenge would be to get different sectoral administrations to work together on cross-sectoral problems, or if process is the basic principle, getting different professions and experts to join forces would be a challenge.

Our approach will be to distinguish between an external-internal dimension of coordination and a vertical-horizontal dimension (Table 1). The first distinguishes between coordination within the central government and coordination between central government bodies and organizations outside the central government. The second

dimension distinguishes between vertical coordination, which can be either vertical within the central government or upwards to international organizations or downwards to local government, and horizontal coordination between organizations on the same level. Thus, we address the problem of coordination in a multi-level system. The vertical dimension of coordination is more hierarchy-based while the horizontal coordination is more network-based (Verhoest et al. 2005).

Table I Dillereni tooramanon lorms.	Table 1	Different	coordination	forms.
-------------------------------------	---------	-----------	--------------	--------

	Horizontal coordination	Vertical coordination
Internal coordination	Intra-level coordination between ministries, agencies or policy sectors	Inter-level coordination between parent ministry and subordinate agencies and bodies
External coordination	Coordination with civil society organizations/private-sector interest organizations	Coordination a)upwards to international organizations or b)downwards to local government

If we take the central public administration as the unit of analysis, vertical intraorganizational coordination means central efforts by political and administrative leaders to strengthen the coordination and control of sub-ordinate levels/units in the central civil service, like agencies. We presuppose that their authority would be strong. Empirically in our case, this is labelled "vertical coordination within own policy area". Horizontal intra-organizational coordination is coordination inside central government among ministries and agencies. In this type the cabinet and the PM and his/her office are central actors and their authority is high. In our data, this is the variable "horizontal coordination between different government policy areas and sectors".

Vertical inter-organizational coordination means coordination between the central administrative level and other geographical levels. In this type both sectoral political and especially administrative leaders are important actors, but their authority is somewhat weaker, since central control must be balanced against regional and local autonomy. In our data this variable is labelled "coordination with local and regional government". Horizontal inter-organizational coordination is coordination with societal groups, and the central actors are sectoral political and administrative leaders and their counterparts in the private sector, but this implies a weaker position for the governmental actors concerning as far as authority is concerned. In our data this is called "coordination with civil society organizations and private-sector interest organizations".

The fifth dependent variable used – "coordination with super-national and multinational organizations" – will for most purposes be of the horizontal, interorganizational type, but in the case of super-national organizations, like the EU, will have features of the vertical inter-organizational type, where Norway and its central civil service are in a subordinate position. The authority of national government actors will be somewhat weaker than in national coordination with multi-national organizations, while the national government's authority will be weakest of all in collaboration and coordination with super-national organizations. An instrumental-structural perspective may also help us understand variation among civil servants in their experiencing experience and evaluating evaluation of coordinative efforts. Leaders will have a greater obligation to organize and further coordination, and they will also see coordination differently to executive officers lower down in the hierarchy. This leads to a general expectation that leaders will score highest in their positive evaluation of a broad range of coordination forms but also have a relatively high score on particularly demanding types of coordination. This perspective also offers insights into variations in how coordination is experienced subjectively in different policy areas and among officials performing different tasks, because these formal features determine how internally or externally directed their work is, how technical or non-technical the tasks are, the number and type of stakeholders, etc.

The second perspective used in the analysis is the *cultural-institutional* one (Selznick 1957). Such a perspective views the development of a public organization as based on historical traditions, path-dependency and informal norms and values (Krasner 1988, March 1994). Actors will think and act according to a logic of appropriateness, not one of consequence. The leadership of a public organization will have a central role in socializing and training employees, so it will act in an appropriate way.

The logic of appropriateness is a central feature of the cultural perspective. What is appropriate for a civil servant to do is defined by the institution to which he belongs and transmitted through socialization (March and Olsen 1989). Common identities and high level of mutual trust are central characteristics and make it possible to coordinate many activities in ways that make them mutually consistent. High level of mutual trust tends to enhance appropriate behaviour and vice verse. In civil service systems with strong vertical sector relations, such as Norway, civil servants know what they are supposed to do and how to act and this creates and maintains trust relations within the different sectors, but can also constrain trust and coordination among sectors (Fimreite et al. 2007).

So what could be the cultural appropriateness concerning coordination? If civil servants and their leadership are sharing common norms and values, such a common culture may facilitate actual coordination. This way of thinking is very much reflected in the concept of "value-based management", which is a central feature of the post-NPM reforms in Australia (Halligan 2007). NPM meant increased structural fragmentation but also cultural fragmentation, so a challenge for leaders under the post-NPM reforms is to bring public organizationas culturally back together again. But pragmatic collaboration between public organizations, as reflected in Bardach's concept of "smart practice" (Bardach 1998), may also be seen as a way to overcome cultural differences. Instead of primarily thinking about the interest and culture of each single public organization, the purpose is to create a common cultural platform that could yield a stronger collective capacity.

We will use three different sets of cultural variables to explain variety in civil servants' experience of coordination. One of the chief variables and one that is a central precondition for working together in the civil service is mutual trust, i.e. whether civil servants think the mutual trust level between the ministry and subordinate agencies is high or not. Another set of variables is the role orientation of civil servants. Do the civil servants see their roles as collective, collaborative or coordinational or the opposite?

And third, what characterizes the identity of civil servants? Do they mainly identify with the central civil service in general or more with their own unit or profession? We also add the importance of boundary-spanning skills as a cultural variable, indicating that such competence will affect the civil servants' perception of actual coordination.

Demography can be seen as part of an instrumental perspective, if we attend to the competence that the civil servants bring with them, the systematic recruitment and promotion of civil servants and their location in the organizational structure. It can also be connected to the cultural perspective if we attend more to professional norms and values. Here, however, we will, use it more as a separate perspective, primarily to explain variety in the perception of coordination measures. The focus will be more on where they come from and what they bring with them into the ministries and central agencies regarding norms, values and competence, than where they are located in the organization structure or the administrative culture. The general reasoning here is that civil servants through their socio-economic background or their individual careers have acquired certain norms and values that are relevant in their jobs. The more specific questions will be whether such differences in background systematically lead to variation in their experience of coordination. Will civil servants who are older and have a longer tenure experience the various coordinative efforts differently to their younger less experienced colleagues? Will there be gender differences? And will educational background help to explain the variation?

#### Data sources

Our method of studying reforms is based on three main elements (Christensen and Lægreid 1999). First, we focus on the response of individual civil servants in ministries and agencies by focusing on their perceptions of different forms of coordination. How the individual civil servants experience coordination along different dimensions in their daily work is the core of our approach. Second, we choose an extensive method to cover a lot of ground. In 2006 we conducted a large survey of all civil servants with at least one year of tenure from executive officers to top civil servants in Norwegian ministries and of every third civil servant in the central agencies. 1,516 persons in 49 central agencies answered and the response rate was 59 percent. On average there were 31 respondents from each agency, ranging from 112 in the biggest agency to 1 in the smallest. The response rate in the ministries was 67 percent. 1,846 responded in the 17 ministries, ranging from 57 in the Ministry of Oil and Energy to 284 in the Ministry of Foreign Affairs.

Third, we took a broad empirical approach to the question of coordination, asking the executives the following question: "How would you characterize coordination in your own field of work along the following dimensions?" We then listed five different forms of coordination:

- Coordination between different governmental authorities within own sector/own field of work;
- Coordination with governmental authorities in other policy sectors
- Coordination with local and regional government

- Coordination with super-national/international organizations
- Coordination with private-sector companies, civil society organizations, privatesector interest organizations

For each of these coordination forms, we asked the civil servants to state whether coordination was bad or good from on a scale from 1 (very bad) to 5 (very good).

We will now first describe the general satisfaction of civil servants in ministries and central agencies with coordination along these dimensions. Second, we will analyze how we might explain the variation in the different forms of coordination according to structural, demographic and cultural features.

# The dependent variables: assessing different dimensions of coordination

Table 2 presents the experience of civil servants in Norwegian ministries and agencies concerning coordination of different types. The table gives both the results on the experiences of the civil servants working with coordination and the share of the total respondents who think that coordination is not relevant for their own work.

Table 2 The experience of civil servants in Norwegian ministries and central agencies of different types of coordination. Percentage. N=2876 (average)

	Good	Mixed	Bad	Not relevant
Vertical coordination within own policy area	52	28	8	12
Horizontal coordination between different policy areas/sectors	30	37	12	22
Vertical coordination with local and regional government	17	25	10	48
Coordination with super-national and multi- national organizations	32	24	7	37
Coordination with civil society organizations and private-sector interest organizations	24	31	8	37

The table shows the share of the total number of respondents who think coordination is not relevant for their jobs. These are civil servants who have internally directed roles and tasks, and who have very little experience with different types of coordination. Very few of the respondents say that internal vertical coordination inside the central civil service is not relevant; the same is also mostly the case for horizontal cross-sectoral coordination, while the scores on the three other coordination measures are much higher, especially for vertical coordination with local and regional levels. This means that many more civil servants are involved in internal vertical and horizontal coordination in the central civil service than in various external types of coordination, whether with

public or private actors, where coordination is a more specialized activity. For the rest of the analysis we will exclude the civil servants who said coordination was not relevant in their own field of work.

In the group of civil servants reporting that one or more of the five coordination forms were relevant in their daily work, respondents were most satisfied with vertical coordination within their own policy area (Table 3). Overall, vertical coordination within own policy area is seen as working best. This is very much a reflection of the importance of formal organizational structure, i.e. one main reason for organizing units and tasks together inside a ministry and agencies is that they have similar tasks, competence and client groups. Gulick (1937) labels this the principle of "departmentalism", or it might also be described as what Thompson (1967) calls an organization's domain. The relatively high level of satisfaction with vertical coordination is not surprising given the strong sectorization in the Norwegian political administrative system, the importance of the principle of ministerial responsibility and the focus of the NPM reforms on balancing vertical coordination and specialization. Six out of ten civil servants are satisfied with this form of coordination. Given the strong focus on vertical coordination it is, however, rather surprising that 41 % percent express more or less dissatisfaction with internal vertical coordination in their own policy area

Table 3 The experience of civil servants in Norwegian ministries and central agencies of different types of coordination. Not relevant responses excluded. Percentage.

	Good	Mixed	Bad	N=100%
Vertical coordination within own policy area	59	32	9	2539
Horizontal coordination between different policy areas/sectors	38	47	15	2251
Vertical coordination with local and regional government	33	49	18	1488
Coordination with super-national and multi-national organizations	51	38	11	1799
Coordination with civil society organizations and private-sector interest organizations	38	49	13	1820

Civil servants are also pretty satisfied with international coordination. Every second respondent reported that this form of coordination was good or very good. Given the complexities of the relationship between Norwegian central government and supranational and multi-national organizations this is a surprisingly high score. It might indicate that the coordination system for handling EU-related issues works pretty well. Thus, vertical coordination between different governmental levels both internally in the state and externally with international organizations apparently works well.

The other types of coordination on average score somewhat lower. Only 38 percent of respondents think horizontal coordination is good between sectors and with civil society. This shows clearly that this is a future challenge in a post-NPM reform perspective, a challenge connected to one of the most typical NPM features, the horizontal specialization of institutions and tasks, based on the principle of "single purpose organizations" (Boston et al. 1996). One implication of this finding is that there

is a need for stronger "whole-of-government" initiatives in the Norwegian political-administrative system.

The biggest coordination problem in the Norwegian political-administrative system seems, however, to be the one between central government and local government. Only one-third of civil servants in central government report that coordination with local and regional government is good. This illustrates a major tension within the Norwegian political system between central government specialization by sector and territorial local government autonomy. Owing to recent administrative reforms at both the central and local levels the problem of coordination between central government bodies and local government has probably increased over the past decade (Fimreite and Lægreid 2005).

On average civil servants report that coordination is good along two of these five dimensions. 28 percent do not report good or very good coordination along any dimension, 44 percent are satisfied with coordination along one or two dimensions and 29 percent with three or more dimensions.

There are also some differences in scores between civil servants in ministries and those in agencies (Table 4). Respondents in ministries see vertical coordination within their own sector as much better than civil servants in agencies. This may reflect that there is a special obligation for the ministries to focus on vertical coordination, while that is less the case in the agencies. When the scores are still relatively high in the agencies, this may show that the institutional autonomy of the agencies is still influenced by a historical pattern of relatively restricted autonomy, even though Norway, too, has been subjected to a modified version of NPM, particularly concerning regulatory agencies (Christensen and Lægreid 2006a).

The second variable with differences in scores between the ministries and agencies is horizontal coordination between different governmental policy areas/sectors. One main reason for this may be that the ministries have a clearer obligation to promote cross-sectoral coordination and are better organized to cope with it. Agencies have to work more through the ministries to participate in such coordination, which may give rise to more complexity and problems.

Table 4. The experience of civil servants in Norwegian ministries and agencies of different types of coordination. Not relevant excluded. Percentage.

	Minist	tries	Agencies		
	(N=1125,	average)	(N=856, average)		
	Coordination is good	Coordination is mixed/bad	Coordination is good	Coordination is mixed/bad	
Vertical coordination within own policy area	67	33	49	51	
Horizontal coordination between different policy areas/sectors	44	56	30	70	
Vertical coordination with local and regional government	33	67	33	67	
Coordination with super-national and multi-national organizations	53	47	47	53	
Coordination with civil society organizations and private-sector interest organizations	38	62	38	62	

When it comes to external coordination, there are no major differences between ministries and central agencies. Civil servants in ministries and agencies have on average the same opinion about coordination problems with local government, with the private sector and civil society and with international organizations.

Generally, these five forms of coordination are more cumulative and supplementary than alternative dimensions. There is a strong significant correlation between all five types of coordination. Pearson r varies between .36 and .68. If civil servants are satisfied with coordination along one dimension, they also tend to be satisfied along the other dimensions, and vice versa. Thus internal coordination problems tend to go hand in hand with external coordination problems, and horizontal coordination challenges are connected to vertical coordination issues. This means that there is a lot of overlap between the different forms of coordination and this will tend to produce similarities between them when it comes to what factors affect them.

# Variations in coordination: structure, culture and demography

We now turn to the question of how to explain the differences in coordination experiences along the five forms of coordination. This section focuses on how the scores on the different independent variables, i.e. our indicators of structural, cultural and demographic features, correlate with the different dimensions of correlation. First, we present the bi-variate relations between each set of independent variables and dependent variables, and then do a multivariate analysis of the relative importance of the various independent variables for the different dimensions of coordination.

#### Bivariate analyses

Structural features. Administrative level tends to affect perceptions of vertical and horizontal coordination within the government, but also to some degree of international coordination as well (Table 5). Generally civil servants in the ministries are more satisfied with coordination along these dimensions than those working in central agencies, as shown above.

Table 5 Bivariate correlations between independent and dependent variables. Pearson's R. N=1981 (average)

	Vertical coordination	Horizontal coordination	Coordination local/ regional government	Inter- national coordination	Societal co- ordination
Structural features:					
Administrative level	.21**	.19**	.04	.08**	.02
Position	.10**	.07*	01	.10**	.00
Sector	.08**	.05*	.01	.07*	09**
Coordination ministries	.08**	.10**	.06*	.05*	.02
Coordination tasks	.06*	.05*	03	.10**	03
Cultural features:					
Mutual trust	.21**	.19**	.14**	.14**	.12**
Boundary-spanning skills	.08**	.07*	.07*	.09**	.07*
Identity own unit	.16**	.13**	.12**	.10**	08*
Identity own sector	.19**	.18**	.12**	.11**	.08*
Identity central government	.17**	.19*	.12**	.08**	.05
Identity own profession	.00	.02	.02	.00	.00
Demographic features:					
Age	.00	.03	.05	.00	05*
Sex	.01	.06*	.06*	10	.05*
Tenure in central	.07*	.06*	.06*	03	.02
government	.07*	.04*	02	01	.00
Jurists	.04	.03	.01	02	.04
Economists	.01	.01	.03	01	02
Social scientists					

<sup>\*\*:</sup> significant at .001 level; \*: significant at .05-level

Administrative level (0) Agency (1); Ministry; Position (0) executive officer, chief of section (1) Assistant Director General and above; Sector: (0) Other policy areas (1) Fisheries, Agriculture, Trade and Industry, Oil and Energy; Coordination tasks (0) Coordination not main task (1) Coordination main task; Coordination ministries: (0) Other ministries and all agencies (1) Ministry of Finance, Government Administration, Justice, Local and Regional Government, Environment, Foreign Affairs, Prime Minister's Office; Mutual trust: (0) Not good (1) good/very good; Boundary-spanning skills: (0) not important (1) important/very important; Identity own unit: (0) Not strong (1) Strong/very strong; Identity own sector: (0) Not strong (1) Strong/very strong; Identity own profession: (0) Not strong (1) Strong/very strong; Age (0) Under 35 (1) 35-49 (2) 50 and older; Sex: (0) Man (1) Woman; Tenure (0) 5 years and less (1) Over 5 years; Jurist (0) No (1) Yes; Economist (0) No (1) Yes; Social scientist (0) No (1) Yes.

The dependent variables range from 1 to 5.

There is also a positive effect of position. People in leadership positions are more satisfied with vertical and horizontal coordination within government as well as with

international coordination. People working in ministries with some kind of horizontal coordination responsibilities and people with coordination as a main task are also generally more satisfied with coordination along different dimensions, except for societal coordination.<sup>2</sup> There is also an effect of sector. Civil servants working in ministries or central agencies in the area of trade and industry, agriculture, fisheries, oil and energy are more satisfied with coordination than other civil servants.<sup>3</sup>

Cultural features: There is a strong effect of mutual trust, meaning that civil servants reporting a high level of mutual trust between parent ministry and subordinate agency generally also think that coordination is good along all five dimensions examined. In addition, people who report that the ability to work across professional boundaries, administrative levels, organizations and sectors is an important skill in their own position tend to have a more positive view of coordination efforts along the different dimensions. Identity also matters. If civil servants report strong identification with their own unit, own sector or the central government in general they also report that coordination is good. In contrast, identification with own profession does not make a difference, which is somewhat surprising, indicating that the formal structure is of greater significance.

Demographic features. There is a weak effect of gender, meaning that women tend to think that internal horizontal coordination, coordination with society and coordination with local government is better than men do. There is also a weak effect of profession and tenure. Jurists and people with long tenure have a more positive view of internal vertical and horizontal coordination in central government. People with long tenure also have a more positive view of coordination with local government.

#### Multivariate analyses

We now turn to the question of the relative explanatory power of the different independent variables. The multivariate analyses, summed up in Table 6, generally confirm the main pattern revealed in the bivariate analyses.

First, the independent variables can only explain a minor part of the variation in the different forms of coordination. This is especially the case when it comes to coordination with local government, international organizations and societal coordination. Second, the most important explanatory variables are administrative level and mutual trust. This is especially the case for vertical and horizontal coordination within central government, but also for trust concerning coordination with local government, with international organizations and with organizations in society. If central governments' trust in the municipalities' ability to implement national polities within the main welfare sectors is reduced, they can tighten the control over local government by introducing new measures for control and coordination (Fimreite et al. 2007).

<sup>2 17%</sup> of civil servants in the ministries and central agencies report that coordination is their main task (19% in ministries and 13% in central agencies). 40% say that coordination is a big part of their task portfolio (45% in ministries and 31% in central agencies).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> We have also controlled for the effect of different ICT tools, but the effect of ICT on the different forms of coordination is rather weak.

Table 6. Summary of regression analyses by structural, cultural and demographic features affecting different forms of coordination<sup>4</sup>. Linear Regression. Beta coeffecients.

	1	1		1	1
	Vertical coordination	Horizontal coordination	Coordination local/ regional government	Inter- national coordination	Societal co- ordination
Structural features:					
Adm. level	.20**	.18**	-	.06*	-
Position	.01	01	-	.05*	-
Sector	.05*	.03	-	.06*	.08*
Coordination ministries	-02	.00	.02	.01	-
Coordination tasks	.04	.04	-	.08*	-
Cultural features:					
Mutual trust	.17**	.16**	.13**	.12**	.12*
Boundary-spanning skills	.05*	.05*	.07*	.07*	.07*
Identity own unit	.07*	.04	.08*	.03	.04
Identity own sector	.08*	.08*	.03	.07*	.02
Identity central government	.07*	.11**	.05	.01	-
Demographic features:					
Age	-	-	-	-	.05
Sex	-	.06*	.07	-	.06*
Tenure in central	.04*	.05*	.04	-	-
government	.05*	.03	-	-	-
Jurists					
R2	.13	.11	.05	.06	.04
Adjusted R2	.13	.11	.04	.05	.03
F Statistice	26.670	18.976	8.347	9.680	8.905
Significance if F	.000	.000	.000	.000	.000

<sup>\*\*:</sup> significant at .001 level; \*: significant at .05-level: -: not included in the analyses

Third, there are also some other structural and cultural features that make a difference. International coordination is also affected by position, sector and whether civil servants have coordination as a main task. Sector affiliation also affects vertical coordination and societal coordination. Boundary-spanning skills have a significant effect on all forms of coordination. Identity with central government in general enhances horizontal coordination, but also to some degree vertical coordination in government. Identification with own sector tends to strengthen vertical coordination within government and with international organizations, but also horizontal government

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Only correlations that have significant bivariate correlations are included in the regression analyses.

coordination. A high degree of identification with one's own unit tends to increase satisfaction with vertical coordination internally and with local government.

Fourth, the effects of demographic features are generally weakened when other factors are controlled for. But there are some effects of gender on horizontal and societal coordination and of tenure on internal vertical and horizontal coordination. Also being a jurist tends to enhance vertical internal coordination. For international coordination we can see no effects of demographic features.

#### Discussion

We have first shown that there are quite a few civil servants in the Norwegian central civil service who do not see coordination as relevant in their own field of work. This could indicate that coordination is over-focused and that we tend to forget that quite a lot of civil servants have tasks that are internal and administrative and do not require coordination. But it could also indicate that there is potential for more coordination and that even internally oriented tasks have common features across the civil service. Another interesting finding is that for most civil servants coordination is much more about internal than external coordination.

Second, civil servants perceived quite a few coordination problems in the Norwegian civil service, but more so along some dimensions and forms than others; more so for horizontal than vertical coordination. They are not very optimistic about the capacity of government to coordinate its policies (Peters 2004). One could ask whether civil servants are under-involved in coordination and whether public-sector organizations tend to resist coordination (Hanf 1976, Bardach 1998). It is interesting that two of the three vertical coordination forms score highest on satisfaction with coordination, indicating that the leadership's hierarchical control is easier to organize than horizontal coordination, which has fewer instrumental levers of control and where sectoral resistance towards central coordinative authority is easier and more evident.

The main coordination problems in the Norwegian civil service seem to be vertical coordination with local and regional government, horizontal coordination between different policy areas and sectors and coordination with organizations in civil society and the private sector. The first form of coordination problem illustrates the tension in the Norwegian system, like in many other, similar systems, between local government autonomy and central government steering. On the basis of national laws and standards the central government can demand that the regional and local government coordinate with central government to achieve national political goals. But regional and local public organizations, in particular, will try to use their electoral mandate and elected bodies to have their own independent power base and thus avoid some coordination and control.

The problems of coordination connected to civil society organizations and privatesector interest groups are generally connected to the lack of formal authority that public organizations have over the private sector. Norway, like many Western countries, has developed a strong corporative system since World War II, implying the integrated participation of interest groups in public policy (Kvavik 1976, Olsen 1983). This system has offered public authorities the opportunity to obtain more expertise and help implement public policy and given interest groups legitimate participation rights and increased influence. The corporative system has come under increasing scrutiny in the last two decades, partly because NPM tends to see interest groups as special interests creating costs and inefficiencies, and it has been rolled back in many countries (Roness 2001). This development is weaker in Norway than, for example, in other Scandinavian countries, but we still see more tension both between government and the interest groups and among the interest groups.

There seems to be pressure for enhanced horizontal coordination to deal with cross-cutting policy issues in a highly sectorized government system, but also to handle pressing policy issues at the interface between local and central government. The area of coordination perceived as least of a problem is the vertical one within own policy area, reflecting the principle of ministerial responsibility, strong functional specialization and NPM reforms focusing on the vertical internal dimension in government. Somewhat surprisingly, coordination with super-national and multi-national organizations is also perceived as pretty good. This might indicate that the coordination system for EU-related issues works rather well.

Third, we have revealed that the different coordination forms represent more complementary than alternative dimensions, i.e. there is a cumulative pattern. There is substantial overlap between the different forms of coordination, and civil servants do not perceive them as independent categories. If civil servants are dissatisfied with coordination along one dimension, they also tend to be dissatisfied along other dimensions. And positive assessments of one form of coordination go together with a positive evaluation of other dimensions of coordination. Hierarchy-type mechanisms of coordination, such as vertical internal coordination, have not been replaced by network types of coordination, such as horizontal coordination. It is more a question of supplementing or complementing. In contrast to what some authors claim (Peters 1998), strong vertical coordination does not tend to make horizontal coordination more difficult.

Fourth, there is also significant variation in civil servants' experience of coordination, but less so for coordination with local government, international coordination and societal coordination. Perceptions of the other coordination tools depend to a large extent on structural and cultural features. The most important factors are administrative level and mutual trust. There is not only a formal difference but also a real difference in the working of ministries and agencies. While 67 percent of civil servants in ministries report that vertical coordination within own policy area is good, only 49 percent of their colleagues in central agencies agree. Civil servants in ministries and those who report a high level of mutual trust between parent ministry and agencies are much more satisfied with internal coordination in central government, both vertically and horizontally. Thus, mutual trust is not only crucial for the more network-based horizontal coordination (Verhoest et al. 2005), but also for the more hierarchy-based vertical coordination. Strong identification with own sector and central government in general also tend to increase satisfaction with different forms of coordination. If there is a common logic of appropriateness and identities across organizations, then coordination is more likely to occur (March and Olsen 1989, Peters 1998). Even if there is a positive significant effect of position, this is weaker than the effect of administrative level, mutual trust and identification. Thus, we do not find that strategic actors represented by people in leadership positions are such a crucial element for the various coordination strategies as some authors claim (Pollitt 2003, Jennings 1994).

Fifth, the effects of demographic features are generally rather weak, but there are some significant effects of sex, tenure and education. On the one hand, this is very much in line with the general results of broad surveys of the Norwegian central civil service conducted in the last 30 years (Christensen and Lægreid 1998, Lægreid and Olsen 1978). On the other hand, education as a variable seems generally to be more significant than shown in this analysis. This may indicate that coordination is more an organizational issue than one closely connected to educational background.

#### Conclusion

The focus of the paper is on the experience civil servants in the central bureaucracy in Norway have with coordination and how we can understand these variations based on instrumental, cultural and demographic perspectives. Two main distinctions concerning coordination were used – internal or external coordination, and vertical or horizontal coordination. We started out by showing the often forgotten fact that coordination does not concern everyone, but like other functions is a specialized activity. The more demanding and the more external the task, the fewer civil servants there are involved in coordination.

We then continued by focusing on civil servants to whose work coordination is relevant. Overall, there seems to be a lot of variation in civil servants' experience of different types of coordination. One main result is that coordination seems problematic, probably both reflecting that coordination as such is difficult, since it is a complex and demanding exercise, involving many actors, but also that NPM, even in Norway, has created increasing fragmentation problems and therefore also potential challenges of capacity and coordination.

A second main result is that civil servants are more satisfied with different types of vertical coordination than with horizontal coordination. The logic behind this is that the political and administrative leadership has more formal levers of control and influence in vertical organization, than horizontally, where authority is more ambiguous and there are turf wars and negotiations. There is one interesting exception to this vertical picture and that is coordination with local and regional government. Here more different principles collide – the central hierarchical authority and the locally based popular authority.

A third main finding is that for internal forms of coordination, whether vertical or horizontal, there is evidently some variation in coordination experiences. Of the three groups of independent, explanatory variables, structural and cultural variables explain much more than demographic variables. In these two groups administrative level and mutual trust, respectively, explain the most. The first, structural variable shows the difference between ministries and agencies. Historically, Norway has followed a kind of modified Swedish agency model, with agencies as semi-autonomous bodies (Christensen 2003). In the mid- 1950s a new doctrine urging the establishment of more agencies

stated that the ministries should have broader and strategic policy development and planning tasks, while the agencies should have more professional and technical tasks. This model has not been implemented in a straightforward manner, since agencies often have policy-oriented and planning tasks as well. But our findings on coordination seem to indicate that there is a substantial difference in the indicated direction between ministries and agencies, where the ministries have more coordinative tasks and also the resources and authority to cope with them, while the agencies are further down the "sectoral silo" where coordination is seen as more difficult.

The significance of the cultural variable of mutual trust for coordination shows clearly that coordination is not only about structural levers and design but also about whether civil servants feel they are working according to the same cultural values and norms and thus whether they feel that coordination is culturally appropriate. Krasner (1988) states that cultural institutionalization has to do with vertical depth, how committed people are to fulfilling certain cultural norms, but also with horizontal width, meaning that people in different parts of an institution, in our case the central civil service, must relate to each other culturally and think they are in the same "cultural boat". Mutual trust seems to encompass both these elements.

### References

- Bardach, E. (1998). Getting agencies to work together. The art and practice of managerial craftsmanship. Washington, DC: The Brooking Institution.
- Bogdanor, V. ed. (2005). Joined -Up Government. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Boston, J., J. Martin, J. Pallot and P. Walsh (1996). Public Management: The New Zealand Model. Auckland: Oxford University Press.
- Christensen, T. (2003). "Narrative of Norwegian Governance: Elaborating the Strong State". Public Administration 81(1):163-190.
- Christensen, T., A.L. Fimreite and P. Lægreid (2007). "Reform of Employment and Welfare Administration the challenge of coordinating diverge public organizations". International Journal of Administrative Sciences 73 (3) (September).
- Christensen, T. and P. Lægreid (1998). Den moderne forvaltning (The modern civil service). Oslo: Tano Aschehoug.
- Christensen, T. and P. Lægreid (1999). New Public Management: Design, Resistance or Transformation? Public Productivity and Management Review, 23 (2): 169-193.
- Christensen, T. and P. Lægreid (2001). New Public Management. The Transformation of Ideas and Practice. Aldershot: Ashgate.
- Christensen, T. and P.Lægreid (2002). Reform og lederskap (Reform and Leadership). Oslo: Universitetsforlaget.
- Christensen, T. and P. Lægreid, eds. (2006a). Autonomy and Regulation. Coping with Agencies in the Modern State. Cheltenham: Edward Elgar.
- Christensen, T. and P. Lægreid (2006b). "Whole-of-government approach to public sector reform regulation of performance inside government?" Paper presented at "A Performing Public Sector: The Second Transatlantic Dialogue". Workshop 2 Performance of Regulation and Regulation of Performance". Leuven 1- 3 June.
- Christensen, T. and P. Lægreid, eds. (2007a). Transcending New Public Management. The Transformation of Public Sector Reforms. Aldershot: Ashgate.
- Christensen, T. and P. Lægreid (2007b) "NPM and beyond leadership, demography and culture". Paper prepared for the Third Transatlantic Dialogue, Delaware, 31 May 2 June 2007.
- Christensen, T. and M.Painter (2004). The Politics of SARS Rational Responses or Ambiguity, Symbols and Chaos? Policy and Society 23(2):18-48.
- Dahl, R. A. and C. E. Lindblom (1953). Politics, Economics, and Welfare. New York: Harper & Row.
- Egeberg, M. (2003). "How Bureaucratic Structure Matters: An Organizational Perspective," In B.G. Peters and J. Pierre (eds.), Handbook of Public Administration. London: Sage.
- Fimreite, A.L., Y. Flo, P. Selle and T. Tranvik (2007). "Når sektorbåndene slites. Utfordringer for den norske velferdsmodelen" (When sector relations erodes. Chellenges for the Norwegian welfare model). Tidskrift for Samfunnsforskning, 48 (2): 165-196.
- Fimreite, A.L. and P. Lægreid (2005). "The regulatory state and the executing municipality Consequences of public sector reform in Norway". Paper presented at the 21th EGOS Colloquum in Berlin, June 30 July 2 2005. Sub theme no 15. Institutional Change and Transformation of Public Organizations. Also printed as Working Paper 7/2005. Bergen: Rokkan Centre.
- Gregory, R. (2003). "All the King's Horses and all the King's Men: Putting New Zealand's Public Sector Back Together Again." International Public Management Review, 4 (2): 41-58.
- Gulick, L. (1937). "Notes on the Theory of Organizations. With Special Reference to Government". In L. Gulick and L. Urwin (eds.), Papers on the Science of Administration. New York: A. M. Kelley.

- Halligan, J. (2007). "Reform Design and Performance in Australia and New Zealand". In T.Christensen and P.Lægreid (eds.), Transcending New Public Management. Aldershot: Ashgate.
- Hammond, T. H. (1990). "In Defence of Luther Gulick's Notes on the Theory of Organization". Public Administration, 68 (summer): 143-173.
- Hanf, K. (1976) "Introduction". In K. Hanf and F.W. Scharpf Interorganizational policy making: limits to coordination. Beverly Hills: Sage.
- Hood, C. (2005). "The Idea of Joined-up Government: A Historical Perspective". In V. Bogdanor, ed. Joined-Up Government. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Jennings, E.T.K.D. (1994). "Coordination and welfare reform: the quest for the Philosopher's stone". Public Administration Review, 54 (5): 341-348.
- Kavanagh, D. and D. Richards (2001). "Departementalism and Joined-Up Government: Back to the Future?" Parliamentary Affairs, 54: 1-18.
- Kettl, D,F, (2003). "Contingent Coordination: Practical and Theoretical Puzzles for Homeland Security". American Review of Public Administration, 33 (September): 253-277.
- Krasner, S. D. (1988). "Sovereignty. An Institutional Perspective". Comparative Political Studies, 21 (1), April 1988: 66-94.
- Kvavik, R. B. (1976). Interest Groups in Norwegian Politics. Oslo: Scandinavian University Press.
- Lægreid, P. and J.P.Olsen (1978). Byråkrati og beslutninger (Bureaucracy and decisions). Bergen: Scandinavian University Press.
- Ling (2002). "Delivering joined up government in the UK: dimensions, issues and problems." Public Administration, 80 (4): 615-642.
- Management Advisory Committee (2004). Connecting Government. Whole of Government Responses to Australia's Priority Challenges. Commonwealth of Australia. http://www.dcita.gov.au/cca.
- March, J.G. (1994). A primer on Decision making. How Decisions happen. New York. Free Press
- March, J. G. and J. P. Olsen (1983). "Organizing Political Life. What Administrative Reorganization Tells Us About Government". American Political Science Review, 77: 281-297.
- March, J.G. and J. P. Olsen (1989). Rediscovering institutions. New York: The Free Press.
- Mulgan (2005). "Joined-up Government: Past, Present, and Future". In V. Bogdanor, ed. Joined-Up Government. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Olsen, J.P. (1983). Organized Democracy. Bergen: Scandinavian University Press.
- Perry 6 (2004). "Joined-Up Government in the Western World in Comparative Perspective: A Preliminary Literature Review and Exploration". Journal of Public Administration Research and Theory, 14 (1): 103-38.
- Perry 6 (2005). "Joined-Up Government in the West beyond Britain: A Provisional Assessment. In V. Bogdanor, ed. Joined-Up Government. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Peters, B.G. (1998)."Managing horizontal government: The politics of coordination". Public Administration, 76 (Summer): 295-311.
- Peters, B.G. (2004). "The capacity to coordinate". Unpublished paper. Department of Political Science, University of Pittsburgh.
- Peters, B.G. (2005). "The search for coordination and coherence in public policy: Return to the centre?". Unpublished paper. Department of Political Science. University of Pittsburgh.
- Pollitt, C. (2003). "Joined-up-government: a survey". Political Studies Review, 1: 34-49.
- Pollitt, C. and G. Bouckaert (2004). Public Management Reform: A Comparative Analysis. Oxford: Oxford University Press. 2<sup>nd</sup> edition.
- Pollitt, C., X. Girre, J. Lonsdale, R. Mul, H. Summa and M. Waerness (1999). Performance or Compliance? Performance Audit and Public Management in Five Countries. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

- Roness, P. G. (2001). "Transforming State Employees' Unions". In T. Christensen and P. Lægreid (eds.), New Public Management. The Transformation of Ideas and Practice. Aldershot: Ashgate.
- Selznick, P. (1957). Leadership in Administration. New York: Harper & Row.
- Simon, H. A. (1957). Administrative Behaviour. New York: Macmillan.
- Smith M. and D. Richards (2006). "The Tension of Political Control and Administrative Autonomy: from NPM to a Reconstituted Westminster Model". In T. Christensen and P. Lægreid, eds. Autonomy and Control. Coping with Agencies in the Modern State. Cheltenham: Edward Elgar.
- Stephens, R. (1996). "Social Services". In B. Silverstone, A. Bollard and R. Lattimore (eds.), A Study of Economic Reform: The Case of New Zealand. Elsvier.
- Stoker (2005). "Joined-Up Government for Local and Regional Institutions". In V. Bogdanor, ed. Joined-Up Government. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Thompson, J. (1967). Organizations in Action. New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Tranvik, T. and A.L. Fimreite (2006). "Reform Failure: The Processes of Devolution and Centralization in Norway". Local Government Studies, 32 (1): 89-107.
- Verhoest, K. et al. (2005). "How coordination and control of public organizations by government interrelate: an analytical and empirical exploration". Paper presented at the Scancor Workshop, Stanford University.
- Wise, C. (2002) "Organizing for Homeland Security". Public Administration Review, 62: 44-57.

#### WORKING PAPERS ROKKANSENTERET (ISSN 1503-0946)

The publications can be ordered from Rokkansenteret, phone: +47 55 58 97 10,

e-mail: post@rokkan.uib.no, http://www.rokkansenteret.uib.no

#### 2007

- 1-2007 Kari Ludvigsen og Svanaug Fjær: «Varig bolig framfor hospits». Februar 2007.
   2-2007 Kari Ludvigsen og Reidun Faye: «Botilbud for ressurskrevende brukere innen lokal helsetjeneste i omstilling. Evaluering av prøveprosjektet Bufellesskapet Vik i Jondal
  - kommune». Mai 2007.
- 3-2007 Tom Christensen and Per Lægreid: «NPM and Beyond Leadership, Culture, and Demography». June 2007.
- **4-2007** *Tord Skogedal Lindén*: «Unearthing a European Union Family Policy. The Impact of Social Protection Policies». August 2007.
- **5 -2007** *Tom Christensen and Per Lægreid*: «The Challenge of Coordination in Central Government Organizations». October 2007.

#### 2006

- 1-2006 Martin Byrkjeland: Høgare utdanningstilbod på Vestlandet og i Agder-fylka. Mai 2006.
- **2-2006** *Svanaug Fjær*: «Dagsverket lavterskel arbeidstilbud for rusavhengige. Evalueringsrapport». Juni 2006.
- **3-2006** *Birgit Skjelbred-Knudsen Valde*: «Norsk anti-korrupsjonspolitikk svar på behov eller utløst av en internasjonal trend». Juni 2006.
- **4-2006** *Håkon Høst*: «Kunnskapsstatus vedrørende rekruttering og utdanning til pleie- og omsorgstjenestene i nordiske land». Juni 2006.
- **5-2006** *Ingrid Helgøy, Sturla Herfindal og Torgeir Sveri*: «Undersøkelse av hovedfags- og masterstudenters gjennomføring og vurdering av studiesituasjonen». Juni 2006.
- 6-2006 *Tom Christensen and Per Lægreid:* «The whole-of-government approach regulation, performance, and public-sector reform». August 2006.
- **7-2006** *Martin Byrkjeland:* «Kortare arbeidstid Eit oversyn over diskusjonen om arbeidstidsforkortingar i Noreg 1880–2006». August 2006.
- **8-2006** *Even Nilssen*: «The EU Fight Against Poverty and Social Exclusion. Activation, Targeting and the Sustainability of the Welfare State». November 2006.
- 9-2006 Merethe Mæland Bertelsen: «Omorganisering av konkurransetilsynet». November 2006.
- **10-2006** *Rune Ervik*: «European Pension Policy Initiatives and National Reforms: Between Financial Sustainability and Adequacy». December 2006.
- 11-2006 Kaia Christina I. Grahm-Haga: «Utvikling av forvaltningsrevisjon i Norge». Desember 2006.
- **12-2006** *Tom Christensen and Per Lægreid*: «Modern Regulatory Agencies Professional and Judicial Objectivity or Increased Complexity in Decision-Making?». December 2006.
- **13-2006** *Per Lægreid, Paul G. Roness and Kristin Rubecksen:* «Modern Management Tools in Norwegian State Agencies: Regulation Inside Government or Shopping Basket?». December 2006.
- 14-2006 *Tom Christensen, Anne Lise Fimreite and Per Lægreid:* «Reform of the Employment and Welfare Administrations the Challenges of Co-ordinating Diverse Public Organisations». December 2006.

- **1-2005** *Ivar A. Lima og Agnete Vabø*: «Instituttstruktur og fakultetsorganisering ved HF-fakultetet, Universitetet i Bergen». Mai 2005.
- 2-2005 Dag Arne Christensen og Jacob Aars: «Modalen: Fra off-road til on-line på 25 år». Mai 2005.
- 3-2005 Nanna Kildal: «Fra arbeidsbegrepets historie: Aristoteles til Marx». Mai 2005.
- **4-2005** *Per Lægreid, Paul G. Roness and Kristin Rubecksen:* «Autonomy and Control in the Norwegian Civil Service: Does Agency Form Matter?». September 2005.
- **5-2005** *Per Lægreid, Paul G. Roness and Kristin Rubecksen:* «Regulating Regulatory Organizations: Controlling Norwegian Civil Service Organizations». September 2005.
- 6-2005 Tom Christensen and Per Lægreid: «Regulatory Reforms and Agencification». November 2005.
- **7-2005** Anne Lise Fimreite and Per Lægreid: «Specialization and Coordination: Implications for Integration and Autonomy in a Multi-Level System». November 2005.

- **8-2005** *Per Lægreid, Paul G. Roness and Kristin Rubecksen:* «Performance Management in Practice The Norwegian Way». November 2005.
- **9-2005** *Stig Helleren:* «Omstilling i Arbeidstilsynet: Tilsynsmeldingens konsekvenser for strategi og organisering». November 2005.
- **10-2005** *Per Lægreid, Runolfur Smari Steinthorsson and Baldur Thorhallsson:* «Europeanization of Nordic Central Governments: Towards a Transnational Regulatory State?». November 2005.
- 11-2005 *Kari Ludvigsen and Kari Tove Elvbakken*: «The Public, the Mother and the Child. Public Health Initiatives Promoting the Strong and Happy Child Focusing on Food and Mental Health». December 2005.
- **12-2005** *Rune Ervik and Ingrid Helgøy*: «Overcoming the Barrieres and Seizing the Opportunities for Active Ageing in Norway: Report from an Expert Panel Meeting». December 2005.
- 13-2005 Ingrid Helgøy: «Active Ageing and the Norwegian Health Care System». December 2005.
- **14-2005** *Martin Byrkjeland og Knut Grove:* «Perspektiv på bygdeutvikling». Desember 2005.
- **15-2005** *Haldor Byrkjeflot:* «The Rise of a Healthcare State? Recent Healthcare Reforms in Norway». December 2005.
- **16-2005** *Monica Skjøld Johansen:* «Penga eller livet? Lederutfordringer i det reformerte norske sykehusvesenet». Desember 2005.
- 17-2005 *Kirsti Malterud, Kari Tove Elvbakken og Per Solvang*: «Helsekameratene. Gruppe for flerfaglig forskning om helse og sykdom i kulturelt perspektiv, Universitetet i Bergen 1999–2005». Desember 2005.

- **1-2004** Dag Olaf Torjesen and Hallgeir Gammelsæter: «Management Between Autonomy and Transparency in the Enterprise Hospital». January 2004.
- **2-2004** *Haldor Byrkjeflot and Simon Neby:* «The Decentralized Path Challenged? Nordic Health Care Reforms in Comparison». January 2004.
- **3-2004** *Tom Christensen and Per Lægreid:* «The Fragmented State the Challenges of Combining Efficiency, Institutional Norms and Democracy». March 2004.
- 4-2004 Morten Dyrdal: «Europeisering av tilsynsmyndigheter i Norge og Sverige». Mars 2004.
- 5-2004 Karsten Vrangbæk and Katarina Østergren: «The Introduction of Choice in Scandinavian Hospital Systems. Arguments and Policy Processes in the Danish and the Norwegian Case». March 2004.
- **6-2004** *Marit Tjomsland*: «Internationalization at Norwegian Universities and Colleges after the Quality Reform». April 2004. The Globalization Program.
- **7-2004** Hans-Tore Hansen, Anne Hege Trædal-Henden, Olaf Jürgens and Wolfgang Voges: «Poverty among Households with Children: A Comparative Study of Lone Parents and Couples with Children in Norway and Germany». April 2004.
- **8-2004** *Renate Storetvedt Lien og Arnhild Taksdal* «Integrering av kjønnsperspektiv i offentlig tjenesteproduksjon og planlegging». Mai 2004.
- **9-2004** *Ingrid Helgøy og Synnøve Serigstad:* «Tilsyn som styringsform i forholdet mellom staten og kommunene». Mai 2004.
- 10-2004 Morten Dyrdal: «Legemiddeltilsyn og europeisering». September 2004.
- **11-2004** *Bodil Ravneberg:* «Økonomiske insentiv i arbeidslinjen, virker det? Evaluering av forsøksordning med kvalifiseringsstønad i 'Prosjektet Amalie' i Åsane». Oktober 2004.
- **12-2004** *Per Lægreid and Synnøve Serigstad:* «Organizing for Homeland Security: The Case of Norway». November 2004.
- **13-2004** *Ivar Bleiklie:* «Institutional Conditions and the Responsibilities of Universities». November 2004.
- 14-2004 Lise Hellebø: «Food Safety at Stake the Establishment of Food Agencies». November 2004.
- **15-2004** *Katarina Østergren:* «The Institutional Construction of Consumerism. A Study of Implementing Quality Indicators». November 2004.
- **16-2004** *Ingrid Helgøy and Anne Homme:* «Governance in Primary and Lower Secondary Education. Comparing Norway, Sweden and England». November 2004.
- 17-2004 *Tom Christensen, Per Lægreid and Inger Marie Stigen:* «Performance Management and Public Sector Reform: The Norwegian Hospial Reform». December 2004.

- **18-2004** *Tom Christensen and Per Lægreid:* «Regulatory Agencies The Challenges of Balancing Agency Autonomy and Political Control». December 2004.
- **19-2004** Dag Arne Christensen: «Velferdsstat, rettighetslovgivning og lokalt selvstyre». Desember 2004.
- **20-2004** *Kristin Rubecksen:* «Civil Service Organizations in Norway: Organizational Features and Tasks». December 2004.
- **21-2004** *Kjell Erik Lommerud, Odd Rune Straume and Lars Sørgard:* «National Versus International Mergers in Unionised Oligopoly». December 2004. The Globalization Program.
- **22-2004** *Birte Folgerø Johannessen*: «Ledelse og evidens i det psykiske helsevernet, konsekvenser for kunnskapsforståelse og organisering». Desember 2004.
- 23-2004 Jacob Aars og Svein Kvalvåg: «Politiske uttrykksformer i en bykontekst». Desember 2004.
- **24-2004** *Ingrid Helgøy:* «Active Ageing in the Labour Market. Country Report Norway». December 2004.
- **25-2004** *Torgeir Sveri*: «Strukturer og reformer. En kvalitativ analyse av reformen 'Enhetlig ledelse' sett i lys av sykehusets arbeidsorganisering». Desember 2004.
- **26-2004** *Stig Helleren:* «Arbeidstilsynets rollekonflikt: Vekslende tilsynsstrategier mellom kontroll og veiledning». Desember 2004.
- **27-2004** *Kjell Erik Lommerud, Frode Meland and Odd Rune Straume*: «Globalisation and Union Opposition to Technological Change». December 2004. The Globalization Program.
- **28-2004** *Frode Meland:* «A Union Bashing Model of Inflation Targeting». December 2004. The Globalization Program.

- **1-2003** *Tom Christensen og Per Lægreid:* «Politisk styring og privatisering: holdninger i elitene og befolkningen». Mars 2003.
- **2-2003** *Ivar Bleiklie, Per Lægreid and Marjoleine H. Wik:* «Changing Government Control in Norway: High Civil Service, Universities and Prisons». March 2003.
- 3-2003 Badi H. Baltagi, Espen Bratberg and Tor Helge Holmås: «A Panel Data Study of Physicians' Labor Supply: The Case of Norway». March 2003. HEB.
- **4-2003** *Kjell Erik Lommerud, Frode Meland and Lars Sørgard*: «Unionised Oligopoly, Trade Liberalisation and Location Choice». March 2003. The Globalization Program.
- 5-2003 Lise Hellebø: «Nordic Alcohol Policy and Globalization as a Changing Force». April 2003.
- **6-2003** *Kim Ove Hommen:* «Tilsynsroller i samferdselssektoren». April 2003.
- **7-2003** *Tom Christensen and Per Lægreid:* «Trust in Government the Significance of Attitudes Towards Democracy, the Public Sector and Public Sector Reforms». April 2003.
- 8-2003 Rune Ervik: «Global Normative Standards and National Solutions for Pension Provision: The World Bank, ILO, Norway and South Africa in Comparative Perspective». April 2003. The Globalization Program.
- 9-2003 Nanna Kildal: «The Welfare State: Three Normative Tensions». Mai 2003.
- 10-2003 Simon Neby: «Politisk styring og institusjonell autonomi tre illustrasjoner». Mai 2003.
- **11-2003** *Nina Berven:* «Cross National Comparison and National Contexts: Is what we Compare Comparable?». July 2003. The Globalization Program.
- **12-2003** *Hilde Hatleskog Zeiner:* «Kontrollhensyn og kontrollpraksis. En studie av Food and Veterinary Office (FVO)». August 2003.
- 13-2003 Nanna Kildal: «Perspectives on Policy Transfer: The Case of the OECD». August 2003.
- **14-2003** *Erik Allardt:* «Two Lectures: Stein Rokkan and the Twentieth Century Social Science». «Den sociala rapporteringens tidstypiska förankring». September 2003.
- **15-2003** *Ilcheong Yi:* «The National Patterns of Unemployment Policies in Two Asian Countries: Malaysia and South Korea». September 2003. The Globalization Program.
- 16-2003 Dag Arne Christensen: «Active Ageing: Country Report Norway». November 2003.
- 17-2003 Kim Ove Hommen: «Tilsynspolitikk i Norge: Utflytting og autonomi». November 2003.
- **18-2003** Dag Arne Christensen, Rune Ervik and Ingrid Helgøy: «The Impact of Institutional Legacies on Active Ageing Policies: Norway and UK as Contrasting Cases». December 2003.
- **19-2003** *Ole Frithjof Norheim og Benedicte Carlsen*: «Legens doble rolle som advokat og portvakt i Fastlegeordningen. Evaluering av fastlegeordningen». Desember 2003. HEB.

- **20-2003** *Kurt R. Brekke og Odd Rune Straume:* «Pris- og avanseregulering i legemiddelmarkedet. En prinsipiell diskusjon og en vurdering av den norske modellen». Desember 2003. HEB.
- **21-2003** *Per Lægreid, Vidar W. Rolland, Paul G. Roness and John-Erik Ågotnes:* «The Structural Anatomy of the Norwegian State 1947–2003». December 2003.
- **22-2003** *Ivar Bleiklie, Haldor Byrkjeflot and Katarina Östergren:* «Taking Power from Knowledge. A Theoretical Framework for the Study of Two Public Sector Reforms». December 2003. ATM.
- **23-2003** *Per Lægreid, Ståle Opedal and Inger Marie Stigen*: «The Norwegian Hospital Reform Balancing Political Control and Enterprise Autonomy». December 2003. ATM.
- **24-2003** *Håkon Høst*: «Kompetansemåling eller voksenutdanning i pleie- og omsorgsfagene? Underveisrapport fra en studie av pleie- og omsorgsutdanningene». Desember 2003.
- **25-2003** *Kjell Erik Lommerud, Odd Rune Straume and Lars Sørgard:* «Downstream merger with upstream market power». The Globalization Program. December 2003.
- 26-2003 Ingrid Drexel: «Two Lectures: The Concept of Competence an Instrument of Social and Political Change». «Centrally Coordinated Decentralization – No Problem? Lessons from the Italian Case». December 2003.

- **1-2002** *Håkon Høst:* «Lærlingeordning eller skolebasert utdanning i pleie- og omsorgsfagene?». April 2002.
- **2-2002** *Jan-Kåre Breivik, Hilde Haualand and Per Solvang:* «Rome a Temporary Deaf City! Deaflympics 2001». June 2002.
- **3-2002** *Jan-Kåre Breivik, Hilde Haualand og Per Solvang:* «Roma en midlertidig døv by! Deaflympics 2001». Juni 2002.
- **4-2002** *Christian Madsen:* «Spiller det noen rolle? om hverdagen på nye og gamle sykehjem». Juni 2002.
- **5-2002** *Elin Aasmundrud Mathiesen*: «Fritt sykehusvalg. En teoretisk analyse av konkurranse i det norske sykehusmarkedet». Juni 2002. HEB.
- 6-2002 Tor Helge Holmås: «Keeping Nurses at Work: A Duration Analysis». June 2002. HEB.
- **7-2002** Ingvild Halland Ørnsrud: «Mål- og resultatstyring gjennom statlige budsjettreformer». Juli 2002.
- 8-2002 Torstein Haaland: «Tid, situasjonisme og institusjonell utakt i systemer». Juli 2002.
- **9-2002** *Kristin Strømsnes*: «Samspillet mellom frivillig organisering og demokrati: Teoretiske argument og empirisk dokumentasjon». August 2002.
- **10-2002** *Marjoleine Hooijkaas Wik:* «Mangfold eller konformitet? Likheter og forskjeller innenfor og mellom fem statlige tilknytningsformer». August 2002.
- 11-2002 Knut Helland: «Den opprinnelige symbiosen mellom fotball og presse». September 2002.
- **12-2002** *Nina Berven:* «National Politics and Global Ideas? Welfare, Work and Legitimacy in Norway and the United States». September 2002. The Globalization Program.
- **13-2002** *Johannes Hjellbrekke:* «Globalisering som utfordring til samfunnsvitskapane». September 2002. Globaliseringsprogrammet.
- **14-2002** *Atle Møen:* «Den globale produksjonen av symbol og kunnskap. Verdsflukt og verdsherredømme». September 2002. Globaliseringsprogrammet.
- **15-2002** *Tom Christensen and Per Lægreid:* «Complex Patterns of Interaction and Influence Among Political and Administrative Leaders». October 2002.
- **16-2002** *Ivar Bleiklie:* «Hierarchy and Specialization. On Institutional Integration of Higher Education Systems». Oktober 2002.
- 17-002 Per Lægreid, Runolfur Smari Steinthorsson and Baldur Thorhallsson: «Europeanization of Public Administration: Effects of the EU on the Central Administration in the Nordic States».

  November 2002.
- **18-2002** *Tom Christensen and Per Lægreid*: «Trust in Government the Relative Importance of Service Satisfaction, Political Factors and Demography». November 2002.
- **19-2002** *Marit Tjomsland*: «Arbeidsinnvandringssituasjonen i Norge etter 1975». November 2002. Globaliseringsprogrammet.
- **20-2002** *Augustín José Menéndez m.fl.*: «Taxing Europe. The Case for European Taxes in Federal Perspective». December 2002. The Globalization Program.

- **21-2002** Fredrik Andersson and Kai A. Konrad: «Globalization and Risky Human Capital Investment». December 2002. The Globalization Program.
- **22-2002** Fredrik Andersson and Kai A. Konrad: «Human Capital Investment and Globalization in Extortionary States». December 2002. The Globalization Program.
- **23-2002** *Anne Lise Fimreite, Yngve Flo og Jacob Aars*: «Generalistkommune og oppgavedifferensiering. Tre innlegg». Desember 2002.
- **24-2002** *Knut Grove*: «Frå privat initiativ til kommunalt monopol. Lysverk, sporvegar og renovasjon i Bergen og Oslo 1850–1935». Desember 2002.
- **25-2002** *Knut Grove*: «Mellom 'non-intervention' og 'samfundsvillie'. Statleg og kommunal regulering av økonomisk verksemd i Norge på 1800-talet». Desember 2002.
- **26-2002** *Dag Arne Christensen*: «Hovedtyper av valgordninger. Proporsjonalitet eller politisk styring?». Desember 2002.
- **27-2002** *Jan Erik Askildsen, Badi H. Baltagi and Tor Helge Holmås:* «Will Increased Wages Reduce Shortage of Nurses? A Panel Data Analysis f Nurses' Labour Supply». December 2002. HEB.
- **28-2002** *Sturla Gjesdal, Peder R. Ringdal, Kjell Haug and John Gunnar Mæland:* «Medical Predictors of Disability Pension in Long-Term Sickness Absence. December 2002. HEB.
- **29-2002** Dag Arne Christensen og Jacob Aars: «Teknologi og demokrati. Med norske kommuner på nett!». Desember 2002.
- **30-2002** *Jacob Aars:* «Byfolk og politikk. Gjennomgang av data fra en befolkningsundersøkelse i Bergen, Oslo og Tromsø». Desember 2002.
- **31-2002** *Hjørdis Grove:* «Kommunaliseringsprosessen i Århus 1850–1940». Desember 2002.